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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Portland Marine Hospital is a large, three story brick and 
granite building which was designed on an H plan in order to allow for the 
maximum sunlight and ventilation of its rooms and porches. Its siting 
atop a peninsula by the ocean was probably done in the 19th century be­ 
lief that sea air was healthful.

The Marine Hospital is an imposing and dignified structure of the 
Italian^ style popular in mid-19th century America. The facade is com­ 
prised of three parts, a central section of five bays with a cast iron 
porch and a flanking section of two bays on either side. The first story of 
the middle section has a central entrance with a sidelight on either side. 
The doorway is flanked on either side by two windows possessing granite 
sills and lintels. The first story of each side section has a doorway 
and a window. While the windows have granite sills, the lintel for both 
the windows and doorways are provided by a thick projecting granite string­ 
course just above them.

The second and third story facade of the central section basically 
repeats the design of the first story. However, the second and third 
story flanking sections eliminate the doorway and feature two windows with 
granite sills and lintels instead.

The highlight of the facade is the three story cast iron porch. This 
remarkable porch exhibits an intricate array of geometric and plant forms 
in iron on a large scale. The porch is topped by a thick projecting mold­ 
ing with a series of large dentils. This cornice molding is carried out 
in brick around the entire roofline of the building.

Both side walls of the front portion of the hospital are two bays 
deep with two.,windows at each of the three levels. The first story windows 
have granite sills with the massive granite stringcourse acting as the 
lintels. The second and third story windows possess granite sills and 
lintels. The corners of the building are decorated with large granite 
quoins in the Italian manner. The rear walls of the first section repeat 
the design of the side walls.

Both walls of the middle portion of the hospital were originally com­ 
prised of a series of windows and doorways on each level with a three 
story cast iron porch in front of it. These porches were of the same 
design as that on the facade. At some point, the second and third story 
porches were enclosed with wood, while the first story ones remained open 
as originally planned.

The front and side walls of the rear section of the hospital are 
identical in design to the side and rear walls of the front section. The 
rear wall is plainer than the front and side elevations of the building. 
While the brick cornice is present, no granite stringcourse appears between

(See Continuation Sheet)
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7. DESCRIPTION

the first and second story windows, and no iron porches were used. More­ 
over, the door and window arrangement does not entirely follow the symme­ 
trical arrangement which is evident on the other walls.

Although the exterior of the Portland Marine Hospital has been altered 
by the partial enclosure of its side porches, the general appearance of 
the building is basically unchanged from its completion in 1859. The Marine 
Hospital remains the grand Italianate structure it was conceived as, situ­ 
ated on its commanding promontory with its splendid cast iron porch across 
the facade.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Portland's Marine Hospital is a rare surviving example of a series 
of such buildings erected during the 1850 f s from designs by Ammi B. 
Youj4, Supervising Architect of the United States Treasury Department. 
Constructed of brick with granite trim, this Italian style Marine Hospi­ 
tal may be the only one in the nation to retain its original exterior 
Italianate iron work. Young is noted in American architectural history 
for his creative use of cast iron as both a structural and an ornamental 
feature in his buildings. The grand three story cast iron porch on the 
facade of the Portland Marine Hospital probably ranks as one of Young's 
major surviving achievements in employing cast iron for both a practical 
and a decorative purpose.

The Marine Hospital has its roots deep in the maritime history of 
Portland. On July 1, 1798, Congress established the Marine Hospital 
Service which allowed the president to collect twenty cents a month 
from every U.S. seaman engaged in foreign and coastal trade. These 
funds were to be spent for the relief of sick and disabled seamen in the 
district in which they were collected. Portland was the largest port 
in Maine, and by 1805 it was taking advantage of the program. The Collec­ 
tor of Customs acted as the government's agent to find a local physician 
to attend any seaman who needed help.

The first doctor for the Portland Marine Hospital was Nathaniel 
Coffin, a native of Newburyport, Massachusetts,who studied at Guy's 
and St. Thomas Hospitals in London. 1806 saw thirty seamen use the 
Marine Hospital Service in Portland. Because of the absence of a hos­ 
pital facility, sailors were boarded with private families or allowed 
to remain with their own families if they were local men, and Dr. Coffin 
visited them. This plan lasted until 1824 when ailing seamen were sent 
to the almshouse. Coffin looked after them there until his death in 
1826. His work was continued by Dr. James A. Weston.

Sailors and citizens soon began to protest that the hospital was 
kept in the poorhouse which was connected with the town jail. A move­ 
ment was started to secure a marine hospital from Congress. The local 
Congressman, Francis O.J. Smith supported the idea and filed a bill in 
January of 1836 for funds from the 24th Congress. The measure was de­ 
feated by that Congress and the following one.

___(See Continuation Sheet) __________________________________
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8. SIGNIFICANCE

The contract for the City of Portland to take care of sick and dis­ 
abled mariners expired in 1840, and they were placed under the care of 
Osgood Noyes, who is listed in the 1841 Portland directory as, "Keeper, 
Marine Hospital". Noyes 1 "Marine Hospital" was situated at the head of 
Hancock Street in a two story wooden building formerly used as a sailors 
boarding house.

In October of 1852, Congress finally appropriated $11,000 to purchase 
a site for a permanent marine hospital. Josiah S. Little, John B. Brown, 
and Charles A. Alexander were appointed the commissioners to select it. 
On the road to Falmouth in what was then Westbrook, they selected the pre­ 
sent location of Martin's Point, a picturesque penisula overlooking Casco 
Bay. Just a year before, the Veranda, a summer hotel which opened on the 
Point in 1847, had burned, and the land was available from F.O.J. Smith. 
Yet it was not until May of 1855, that the property transaction was completed

In the meantime, one of the commissioners, Charles A. Alexander (1828- 
1888), applied to the government for the position of architect and superin­ 
tendent of the proposed Marine Hospital. Alexander had arrived in Portland 
from Boston in 1851 and rapidly had become the city's leading architect. 
Made in 1852, his bid for the hospital was supported by a fellow commissioner 
John Bundy Brown, the city's most successful businessman, as well as William 
Pitt Fessender, a prominent Maine politician. However, Alexander's request 
was not granted, because Ammi B. Young had recently been appointed Super­ 
vising Architect of the Treasury Department, a new position which included 
direct responsibility for designing Federal Buildings.

Born in Lebanon, New Hampshire, in 1798, Young worked as an architect 
and builder in New Hampshire and Vermont before moving to Boston in 1838. 
The year before he had won the competition for designing the Boston Custom 
House, and this brought him to that city, where he maintained an architec­ 
tural practice until 1854. Two years before, Young was appointed Supervi­ 
sing Architect of the U.S. Treasury Department, a position which he held 
for almost ten years. He retired to his home in Washington, D.C., in 1862 
and died there twelve years later in 1874.

During his tenure as government architect, Ammi B. Young planned 
approximately seventy buildings which were actually constructed. Most of 
these buildings were in the Italian style, and all of them were of masonry 
construction and iron construction for the purposes of durability and fire 
resistance. Of Young's work for the government, several of his designs 
were for marine hospitals built in such diverse locations as St. Marks, 
Florida; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania } Chicago, Illinois; Galena, Illinois; 
Burlington, Iowa; and Cincinnati, Ohio. According to Lawrence Wodehouse's

(See Continuation Sheet)
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article on Young published in the December, 1966 issue of the Journal of 
the Society of Architectural Historians, "Few hospitals still stand, and 
none of them have retained the original Italianate iron decoration." 
Thus, the Marine Hospital at Portland is a rare surviving example of this 
building type and may be the only one of its kind with Young's elaborate 
exterior iron work intact.

Between 1853 and 1859, Congress appropriated $96,000 for the construc­ 
tion of the Portland Marine Hospital. The building was designed by Young 
in 1854 and erected between 1855 and 1859 under immediate supervision of 
Lt. W.B. Franklin of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. It was officially 
opened on July 1, 1859, and was one of the few marine hospitals in the na­ 
tion to operate for a long period of time. It ceased to function as a 
hospital in 1952 and became a Marine Corps Reserve Traning Center in 1956. 
More/recently, it has been used as a U.S. Public Health Service Outpatient 
Clinic. Situated on a rise overlooking Portland Harbor, the Marine Hos­ 
pital is a symbol of the city's maritime past and, in a broader context, 
has a special place in the development of American architecture.
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